Project Report

An Exploratory Analysis to Estimate the Value of Free Charging Bundle in Electric Vehicle Purchases

Prepared for Teaching Old Models New Tricks (TOMNET) Transportation Center











By,

Divyamitra Mishra Email: <u>divyamitra@mail.usf.edu</u>

Natalia Barbour ORCID: 0000-0002-0787-3993

Michael Maness Email: <u>manessm@usf.edu</u> | ORCID: 0000-0001-5780-8666

> Department of Civil Engineering University of South Florida 4202 East Fowler Ave, Tampa, FL 33620

> > June 2022

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1. Report No.2. Government Accession No.3. Recipient's Catalog No.							
N/A	N/A	N/A					
4. Title and Subtitle	5. Report Date						
An Exploratory Analysis to Estimate t	June 2022						
Value of Free Charging Bundle in Elec	6. Performing Organi	ization Code					
	N/A						
7. Author(s)	8. Performing Organi	ization Report No.					
Divyamitra Mishra, https://orcid.org/0	N/A						
Natalia Barbour, https://orcid.org/0000							
Michael Maness, https://orcid.org/000							
9. Performing Organization Name a	10. Work Unit No. (T	RAIS)					
University of South Florida, 4202 E. F	Fowler Avenue, Tampa, FL 33620	N/A					
		11. Contract or Gran	t No.				
		69A3551747116					
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and A	13. Type of Report and Period Covered						
U.S. Department of Transportation,	Research Report	2022)					
University Transportation Centers Pro 1200 New Jersey Ave, SE, Washington	(April 2021 – Septemb						
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE, washington	14. Sponsoring Agenc USDOT OST-R	cy Code					
15. Supplementary Notes		05D01 051-K					
N/A							
16. Abstract							
	timate of the willingness-to-pay (WT	P) for a free charging b	undle in the United				
Our research establishes a national estimate of the willingness-to-pay (WTP) for a free charging bundle in the United States electric vehicle market. Using a stated choice experiment conducted using a probability-based sample from an							
internet panel, 36 choice scenarios were generated with 9 scenarios received per respondent. Individuals chose between							
three vehicles (two EVs and a comparable gasoline vehicle) with varying vehicle attributes: purchase price, driving range,							
annual fuel cost, and years of free charging. For EVs, the free charging bundle was offered at four levels: zero, one, two,							
and three years. Results from the mixed logit and latent class analysis showed heterogeneity in the sensitivity to the free							
charging time scale with a significant share of the population showing no sensitivity to a single year of free charging. All							
population segments experienced some WTP for free charging at the two- and three-year time frames.							
17. Key Words		18. Distribution State	ement				
Vehicle Preference, Stated Preference,	Choice Experiment, Charging	No restrictions.					
Policy, Zero-Price Effect, Subsidized	Fueling						
19. Security Classif.(of this report)	20. Security Classif.(of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price				
Unclassified	Unclassified	36	N/A				

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Reproduction of completed page authorized

DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The report is funded, partially or entirely, by a grant from the U.S. Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program. However, the U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was funded by grant number 69A3551747116 from A USDOT Tier 1 University Transportation Center, supported by USDOT through the University Transportation Centers program. The authors would like to thank the TOMNET, USDOT, and USDOE for their support of university-based research in transportation, and especially for the funding provided in support of this project. The authors would like to thank Zhenhong Lin for his comments and assistance with the project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGEError! Bookmark not defined.
DISCLAIMER
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
SUMMARY1
INTRODUCTION
LITERATURE REVIEW
SURVEY DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY
Stated Preference Introduction
Scenario Setup and Description
DATA AND DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS
MODELING METHODOLOGY
Mixed Logit Model and Random parameters
Latent Class Logit model
Error Component Latent Class Model 15
ANALYSIS AND RESULTS
Electric Vehicle Binary Choice16
Multinomial Logit Model16
Mixed Logit Model (Random parameters) 17
Electric and Conventional Vehicle Choice
Multinomial Logit Model19
Mixed Logit Model (Random parameters) 20
Distribution of the Zero-Price Effect
Error Component Latent Class Model
CONCLUSIONS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Attribute levels for vehicle choice experiment	7
Table 2 Levels of the attributes for gasoline vehicles	8
Table 3 Levels of the attributes for electric vehicles	8
Table 4 Vehicle choice experimental design	9
Table 5 Survey design methodology	10
Table 6 Sample descriptive statistics	11
Table 7 Summary statistics for model variables for electric vehicle binary choice	16
Table 8 Multinomial logit estimation results for the electric vehicle binary choice	17
Table 9 Mixed logit with random parameters results for the electric vehicle binary choice	18
Table 10 Summary statistics of model variables for electric and conventional vehicle choice	19
Table 11 Multinomial logit estimation results for the electric & conventional vehicle choice	20
Table 12 Mixed logit results for the electric and conventional vehicle choice	21
Table 13 Vehicle choice distribution for the value of free	22
Table 14 Error component latent class results for the electric & conventional vehicle choice	25

LIST OF FIGURES

SUMMARY

The bundling of a free item or service in a purchase can result in additional perceived valuation over the consumer's valuation of the item in isolation. This additional valuation can cause a product bundle to become significantly more desirable when the bundled item is offered for free versus a marginally higher price. As policymakers and businesses consider expanding electric vehicle infrastructure and creating pricing structures to increase EV demand, there is limited guidance on the value that consumers place on free charging. Langbroek and colleagues found a significant willingness-to-pay for EVs under a free public charging policy. They also found that free public charging had a greater effect on individuals who were actively interested in purchasing a new EV.

Our research establishes a national estimate of the willingness-to-pay (WTP) for a free charging bundle in the United States electric vehicle market. Using a stated choice experiment conducted using a probability-based sample from an internet panel, 36 choice scenarios were generated with 9 scenarios received per respondent. Individuals chose between three vehicles (two EVs and a comparable gasoline vehicle) with varying vehicle attributes: purchase price, driving range, annual fuel cost, and years of free charging. For EVs, the free charging bundle was offered at four levels: zero, one, two, and three years. Results from the mixed logit and latent class analysis showed heterogeneity in the sensitivity to the free charging time scale with a significant share of the population showing no sensitivity to a single year of free charging. All population segments experienced some WTP for free charging at the two- and three-year time frames. Additionally, an error component latent class model was estimated to account for heterogeneity in preferences and attribute non-attendance. About 35% of respondents had no interest in electric vehicles, while over 60% of respondent was responsive to at least a three-year duration of a free charging bundle. Normalizing willingness-to-pay for free charging by year, respondents who were attentive to 2 or 3 years of free charging showed similar willingness-to-pay to the average cost of gasoline fueling (in 2018). Respondents attentive to all durations of free charging showed valuations that were about twice as much as the cost of fueling an average gasoline vehicle.

The research findings can help in assessing prospective policies regarding incentive programs involving free charging, the installation and pricing structures of public charging infrastructure, and developing market campaigns for PEVs.

INTRODUCTION

Internationally, local, regional, and national governments are currently analyzing, proposing, and executing policies to encourage electric vehicle (EV) adoption (USDOE, 2020). As policymakers and businesses consider expanding electric vehicle infrastructure and creating pricing structures to increase EV demand, there is limited guidance on the value that consumers place on charging and specifically free charging.

The average cost of charging an EV in the US is about \$0.15/kWh corresponding to \$3000 - \$10,500 in predicted fuel cost savings over a 15-year time horizon (Borlaug et al., 2020). McMahon (2018) states that the average annual operating cost of an EV in the US (\$485) is comparatively less to that of a conventional gasoline vehicle (\$1,200). Implementation of widespread charging discount programs has not been performed. Some companies have offered such programs, such as Tesla's rollout of their supercharger network. Initially offering free charging throughout the vehicle's lifetime, in 2018-2019, Tesla reduced the offer to two years of free charging bundle with the purchase of a new Model 3 (Scooter Doll, 2021).

The EV Project found that 15% of participants primarily used public chargers because they could find free charging. And 26% of participants believed that making public charging free would increase their likelihood of using public chargers. Langbroek and colleagues (2016) used a stated choice experiment to study EV purchasing preference in the presence of a hypothetical free public charging. They found a significant willingness-to-pay for a free public charging system of 14,500 SEK (\approx 1575 USD). They also found that free public charging had a greater effect on individuals who were actively interested in purchasing a new EV. Maness and Lin (2019) briefly reviewed the literature on the value of free and found that bundling free items increased the attractiveness of products beyond the actual value of the bundled object. They suggest that providing free charging could increase EV adoption. To the authors' knowledge, no publicly available sources provide a valuation of a free charging bundle by years of free charging. David et al. (2019) state that amongst all the traditional restrictions of EVs, the scarcity of charging infrastructure is the most significant hurdle that has the potential to reverse the growth of a developing EV market.

This study establishes a national estimate of the willingness-to-pay (WTP) for a free charging bundle in the United States electric vehicle market. The willingness-to-pay provides an estimate of the additional value placed on the free charging bundle versus charging cost discount.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Past researchers who studied preferences for a vehicle choice incorporated stated preference methods into their work. One such research by Hidrue et al. (2011) concentrated on finding the demand for EVs and its feasibility to the general market of current and future car owners. A latent class random utility model was estimated to analyze the data collected with the help of 3,029 respondents. Consequently, the estimated parameters from the model were used to find out the willingness-to-pay for EVs based on five primary attributes: driving range, charging time, fuel-cost saving, pollution reduction and performance. In the stated preference survey, the respondents were asked to choose between their preferred gasoline vehicle and two electric versions of their preferred gasoline vehicle with distinctive attributes. The final stated preference survey, and

miscellaneous reviews. Finally, the survey was divided into four categories: 1. Car ownership and driving habits, 2. Stated preference questions on conventional EVs, 3. Stated preference questions on vehicle-to-grid EVs, 4. Attitudinal and demographical questions. Both categories consisted of what the researcher's termed as 'cheap talk' which basically is the description of the hypothetical scenario that the stated preference questions are based upon. In SP section of the survey, the respondents were presented with multiple hypothetical scenarios. These hypothetical scenarios were designed to overcome the challenges and the limitations that the respondent faced in the real world so that the response obtained was more inclined towards actuality rather than being influenced by conjectures and assumptions.

Liao et al. (2017) discussed a finding by Sierzchula et al. (2014), affirming that numerous policies have been launched and executed by the government to incite EV production and adoption. To examine the consumers' preference of EVs, numerous experimental studies have been done over the last decade, with 2009 and 2010 signifying the years of the EV market's actual growth. There have been comparatively fewer studies entirely based on BEVs. Hidrue et al. (2011) performed one such analysis of US consumers' preference of EVs in 2009 by deploying a latent-class model. Molin et al. (2012) conducted a test using a mixed logit model in 2011 on the Netherland consumer's EV preference. The results suggested that attributes such as purchase price, driving range, and fast charging availability impacted consumers' EV purchase preferences significantly. A subset of the work also discussed that a subsidy of 5000 euro and fast-charging facilities at charging stations both could encourage EV purchase. However, providing fast charging would be cheaper than subsidizing the purchase price. Thus, fast charging was considered to be a more cost-effective option.

Another similar study was done by Rasouli and Timmermans (2013) in the Netherlands using a mixed logit model where two distinct mixed logit models were estimated. One of the mixed logit models had random parameters for vehicle and contextual attributes and incorporated fixed effects of social network attributes. The second one included random effect for the social networks and fixed effects for the vehicle and contextual attributes. The results from the study reflected that vehicle attributes are the most significant in decision making concerning EVs, supported by the impacts of the social connections (social network attributes); however, the effect of the social influence is considerably lesser in comparison.

Some studies utilized the hybrid voice model to estimate consumers' EV preferences (Jensen et al., 2013; Glerum et al., 2014; Kim, Rasouli, and Timmermans, 2014). The result from Jensen et al. (2013) indicated that consumer's EV preference changed majorly after an active physical experience with EVs. The driving range, top speed, cost of charging, battery life, and charging locations were significant attributes. The environmental effect of the EVs positively influenced the consumers. The results by Glerum et al. (2014) mentioned two major factors inducing utility and disutility in an individual's vehicle choice. A higher incentive of about 5000 CHF(CHF is used to denote Swiss Franc) encouraged EV purchase whereas, high operating costs (5.40 CHF per 100 kilometers) repressed it. The individuals were also willing to pay an additional price of 1110 CHF on the EV's purchase price, considering if the monthly battery leasing cost was reduced by 10 CHF.

Other related research involved BEVs, HEVs, and PHEVs. Some analysis was done by using basic multinomial logit models (Mau et al., 2008; Musty and Kockelman, 2011; Achtnicht

et al., 2012), while others performed analysis through mixed logit models (Mabit and Fosgerau, 2011; Maness and Cirillo, 2012; Hackbarth and Madlener, 2013; Hoen and Koetse, 2014; Tanaka et al., 2014 and Helveston et al., 2015). The cited studies involved a few attributes with proven significance in a global setup; the EV's purchase price, operation cost, and the driving range.

Tanaka et al. (2014) estimated the willingness-to-pay (WTP) for BEVs and PHEVs in the US and Japan. The results for the United States indicated that the consumers were majorly influenced by the fuel cost (charging cost for EVs) and the availability of the fueling station (charging stations in case of EVs). The fuel cost reduction was also compared across the states of California, Texas, Michigan, and New York. It was found to be more significant in California as compared to the other states. Another significant factor was the subsidies in the purchase price of the EVs.

In another study, the driving range and refueling were the significant attributes affecting consumer's vehicle preferences. Other major attributes that influenced the vehicle choice were the weight of the car, annual mileage (MPG or MPGe), and the vehicle's commuting frequency. It was also discovered that individuals with low annual mileage were early adopters of the EVs (Hoen and Koetse, 2014). Hackbarth and Madlener, 2013 suggested that vehicle consumers are willing to pay substantial amounts for vehicles with enhanced features, where the amount varies with vehicle type. The study also indicated that EV adoption required the introduction and implementation of different policies.

Other work on a similar topic highlighted on how to use stated preference in the electric vehicle research. Authors suggested that to advance the application of SP approach in EV research, several prime factors should be considered. Those factors would help in understanding an individuals' behavioral response to vehicle choice in a potentially more comprehensible manner. Choices can be represented as a function of these factors, namely: vehicle features, socio-economic characteristics, attitudinal factors, travel pattern and incentives and policies (Elnaz et al., 2015).

Although challenging, stated preference approach has a lot of potential over limitations. These limitations can be significantly overcome by referring to past research. One such research has listed several probable misjudgments, missing concepts, underestimated factors, inefficient data processing and ambiguity that can be overcome in miscellaneous ways (Massiani, 2014).

SURVEY DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

The current study used stated preference data collected between the 10th of July and the 25th of August 2020. The survey collected information about respondents, respondent's household characteristics, their commutes, vehicles, socio-demographic factors, and multiple stated preference questions with regards to EV charging. The survey design was conceptually divided into five parts.

- 1. Household characteristics were collected, including number of people, their age, number of workers, household annual income, residence type, number of drivers.
- 2. Commute characteristics were collected, including primarily used vehicle, employment status, employment type, time taken to travel between work and home, number of miles

driven previous year, usual mode of transportation to work/school, work from home, parking place at school/work, driven an EV, familiarity with an EV, total number of long-distance trips over last three months.

- 3. Vehicle characteristics were collected, including Make and Model, Annual Mileage, Year, Hybrid status.
- 4. Socio-economic details were collected, including Gender, Age, Education Level, Martial Status.
- 5. Stated preference scenario questions on charger choice and the vehicle choice

Stated Preference Introduction

The data for this study was collected using a web-based stated preference survey. Hensher (1994) stated that SP (stated preference) methods are famously used in travel behavior because of its ability to unravel the behavioral reactions to varying choice situations which the market is not accustomed with. SP methods are also known for their ability to imitate reality in a way that even revealed preference study fails to predict the behavioral reactions. There has only been very limited research done that recorded the modeling of the charging choices of BEV drivers using stated preference survey (Wen, et al., 2016). In this study, it is suggested that SP approach is advantageous for behavioral studies because of its ability to accommodate systematically varying scenarios which otherwise can be proved correlated in revealed preference. They also reflect upon the cons of a SP approach having hypothetical bias generated due to unfamiliar choice situations. Wen et al. (2016) recommends that this bias can be alleviated by providing respondents with choice situations that they face on a more regular basis.

In stated preference section of the survey the respondents were presented with hypothetical scenarios. These hypothetical scenarios were designed to overcome the challenges and the limitations that we face in the real world such as, in this case, availability of chargers and number of people owning a BEV. The SP section of the survey started with an introduction which included basic definitions of an EV (electric vehicle) stating 'Electric vehicles are run by electricity stored in the vehicle's batteries. These batteries are charged using an electric charger and no liquid fuel (such as gasoline) is needed to fuel this vehicle. An electric vehicle is not the same as a hybrid vehicle.' This definition existed to answer the basic curiosity of the people who were less familiar with that technology. It was followed by the short explanation of terms which were used to define fundamental characteristics of an EV. These terms can be explained as

- 1. *Fuel*: Runs on electricity stored in the vehicle's batteries. This electricity typically comes from the power grid, such as an outdoor socket attached to an electric battery charger.
- 2. *Fueling*: The vehicle's batteries are charged by plugging into a charging plug for 15 to 60 minutes.
- 3. *Range*: Electric vehicles can operate until their batteries are depleted. Then the batteries must be recharged at a charging station or home. In the next section, the scenario description for the charger choice is discussed.

Scenario Setup and Description

The respondents were asked to imagine that they had to buy a vehicle to replace their current one. They had to choose between three vehicles, two were electric vehicles and one was a

conventional gasoline vehicle. These vehicles had varying characteristics including purchase price, driving range, annual fuel cost and years of free charging. Assuming that each vehicle was identical in all other aspects not shown in the vehicle descriptions, they were given nine different scenarios and asked to choose between three vehicles.

A design for the vehicle choice is presented in Figure 1. The follow-up question consists of two choices, Electric Vehicle A or Electric Vehicle B. This question is added as a back-up to when and if a respondent selects a gasoline vehicle in the primary stated preference question, we can still have a behavioral response to when only EVs are provided as choices. This question identifies the behavior of respondents where their responses are observed for varying vehicle choices, one inclusive of Gasoline vehicle and EVs and the other only having EVs as options to choose from.

onventional gasoline vehicle. All three vehicles are sized as Midsize cars. he features of the respective vehicles are given below. Assume that all other features at the same for the given vehicle options. EV A EV B Gasoline Vehicle turchase Price \$30000 \$30000 virving Range 200 Miles 100 Miles 400 Miles innual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 ears of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year - Vhich one are you most likely to buy? 1 am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A	onventional gasoline vehicle. All three vehicles are sized as Midsize cars. he features of the respective vehicles are given below. Assume that all other features are same for the given vehicle options. EV A EV B Gasoline Vehicle urchase Price \$30000 \$30000 riving Range 200 Miles 100 Miles nnual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 éars of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year Vhich one are you most likely to buy? I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B	Assume that you need to replace your primary vehicle. Previously, you reflected that you are considering to buy a Midsize car with a price range of \$30,000 - \$39,999. You have narrowed your choice down to three vehicles: two electric vehicles (A and B) and one						
Image: Same for the given vehicle options. EV A EV B Gasoline Vehicle rchase Price \$30000 \$30000 ving Range 200 Miles 100 Miles nual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 ars of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year - nich one are you most likely to buy?) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A	same for the given vehicle options. EV A EV B Gasoline Vehicle rchase Price \$30000 \$30000 ving Range 200 Miles 100 Miles nual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 ars of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year nich one are you most likely to buy? 1 am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B	conventional gasoline vehicle. All three vehicles are sized as Midsize cars.						
e same for the given vehicle options. EV A EV B Gasoline Vehicle urchase Price \$30000 \$30000 iving Range 200 Miles 100 Miles 400 Miles nual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 ears of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year - hich one are you most likely to buy? I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A	e same for the given vehicle options. EV A EV B Gasoline Vehicle urchase Price \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 urchase Price \$30000 \$30000 \$400 Miles unual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 unual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 unual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 hich one are you most likely to buy? I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B	The features of the respective vehicles are given below. Assume that all other features are						
EV A EV B Gasoline Vehicle rchase Price \$30000 \$30000 ving Range 200 Miles 100 Miles nual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 ars of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year nich one are you most likely to buy?) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A	EV A EV B Gasoline Vehicle rchase Price \$30000 \$30000 ving Range 200 Miles 100 Miles 400 Miles nual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 ars of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year - nich one are you most likely to buy?) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B							
iving Range 200 Miles 100 Miles 400 Miles inual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 ars of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year -	iving Range 200 Miles 100 Miles 400 Miles nual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 ars of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year - hich one are you most likely to buy?) 1 am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B	ounie for the given v			Gasoline Vehicle	1		
nnual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820 pars of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year - /hich one are you most likely to buy?) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A	I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B	urchase Price	\$30000	\$30000	\$30000			
ears of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year - /hich one are you most likely to buy?	aars of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year - /hich one are you most likely to buy? I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B	riving Range	200 Miles	100 Miles	400 Miles			
hich one are you most likely to buy?	hich one are you most likely to buy?) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B	Annual Fuel Cost \$500 \$680 \$820						
) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle A) I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B 	Years of Free Charging 0 Year 1 Year -						
I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B	I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B I am most likely to buy the Gasoline Vehicle	Which one are you most likely to buy?						
	I am most likely to buy the Gasoline Vehicle	O I am most likely to buy Electric Vehicle B						
I am most likely to buy the Gasoline Vehicle								

Figure 1 An example of the vehicle choice experiment as presented to the respondents

The choice experiment had an additional block before the primary SP question block that included questions where the individual choices were linked to the value that appeared on the SP questions. To allow for an adaptive design, respondents were first asked "Assuming that you were to buy a car shortly, which one are you are most likely to prefer?" The respondents then selected from

- Distinct car sizes: small, midsize, and large cars; SUV; Minivan; and pickup truck
- Target purchase price: six ranges of values
- Number of miles that the vehicle will be driven per year under non-COVID-19 conditions.

The target purchase price provided a reference price for the purchase price attribute. The vehicle size was used to develop a low, median, and high fuel economy based on current

conventional and electric vehicles in that size category. For example, when a respondent was asked about the type of a vehicle, assuming they would need to buy a car soon, the question offered following options: compact car, midsize car, large car, SUV, pick-up truck, or a van. That vehicle type that respondents pick as their preference is then used to determine the value of fuel efficiency in the stated preference scenario questions. Suppose a respondent picks a large car, then the possible values of efficiencies would be 29, 38, 54 mpg for gasoline vehicle and 75, 95, 115 mpge for EVs. The mileage was then used to adapt the fuel cost based on the fuel economy levels. The value of fuel efficiency thus obtained was deployed in the back end for the calculation of annual fuel cost. Equation (1) and (2) summarize the value of the annual fuel cost used for the vehicles with the respective characteristics.

Annual Fuel Price = Distance covered in 1 year (Gasoline Vehicle) (miles)	· ×	Fuel Price × (\$2.5/US gallon)	Fuel Consumption `(1 gallon / mpg)	(1)
Annual Fuel Price = Distance covered in 1 year (<i>Electric Vehicle</i>) (miles)	×	Electricity Price × (\$0.13KWhr)	Fuel Consumption (33.7KWhr / mpge)	(2)

The experimental design for the stated preference experiments was generated using a software called NGENE. The four attributes used are, *purchase price, driving range, annual fuel cost* and *years of free charging* (Table 1).

Attribute	Levels	
Purchase price (relative to your future vehicle	Same, 10% high	ner, 20% higher
choice)		
Driving range	100 miles, 200 i	miles, 300 miles
Annual fuel cost	EV	Gasoline
(The levels:1,2,3 was adapted to the previous	1, 2, 3	1, 2, 3
selection of the respondent)		
Years of free charging	0 year, 1 year, 2	years, 3 years

The Table 2 and Table 3 display the levels that were adapted according to the previous selection of the respondent.

Attribute	Levels	Levels						
Purchase Price of the current vehicle	Less than \$ \$15,000 - \$ \$20,000 - \$ \$30,000 - \$ \$40,000 - \$ \$50,000 - \$ \$60,000 an	\$19,999 \$29,999 \$39,999 \$49,999 \$59,999						
Driving Range	400 miles							
Fuel Efficiency	Compact	Midsize	Large cars	SUV	Pickup Trucks	Vans		
(Combined MPG)	cars	cars						
1	25	29	29	15	11	14		
2	33	38	38	20	17	18		
3	40	56	54	25	25	20		

Table 2 Levels of the attributes for gasoline vehicles

Table 3 Levels of the attributes for electric vehicle	Table 3	Levels of	of the	attributes	for	electric	vehicles
---	---------	-----------	--------	------------	-----	----------	----------

Attributes	Levels					
Purchase Price relative to your current vehicle choice Driving Range (fully charged battery)	Same 10% highe 20% highe 100 miles 200 miles 300 miles					
Fuel Efficiency (Combined MPGe)	Compact cars	Midsize cars	Large cars	SUV	Pickup Trucks	Vans
1 2 3	100 115 130	80 110 140	75 95 115	75 99 115	15 25 30	75 90 110
Years of free charging	0 years 1 year 2 years 3 years	1				1

The experimental design for the stated preference experiments (Table 4) was generated using an orthogonal design approach in a software called NGENE. Orthogonality defines the property where the attribute correlations are non-existing within the alternatives but not necessarily between the alternatives. In other words, all the attributes should be such that they can be estimated individually, and the levels of the attributes were uncorrelated for each attribute column generated.

	ven	Electric V		erimer	ital desi	Electric ve	hiala P		Gasoline Vehicle			
a	D1 1											
Scenarios	Block	Purchase Price	Driving Range	Annual Fuel Cost	Years of Free Charging	Purchase Price	Driving Range	Annual Fuel Cost	Years of Free Charging	Purchase Price	Driving Range	Annual Fuel Cost
1	1	price20	range200	EVFC1	year0	price20	range300	EVFC1	year0	price10	400	GASFC2
2	1	price20	range300	EVFC2	yearl	price10	range200	EVFC2	year3	price20	400	GASFC1
3	1	price10	range200	EVFC1	yearl	price20	range300	EVFC2	year0	price20	400	GASFC1
4	1	price10	range300	EVFC2	year0	price10	range200	EVFC1	year1	price10	400	GASFC2
5	1	price20	range100	EVFC2	year3	price20	range300	EVFC1	year1	price10	400	GASFC0
6	1	price20	range100	EVFC2	year3	price0	range300	EVFC1	year1	price0	400	GASFC0
7	1	price10	range300	EVFC0	year3	price20	range100	EVFC1	year0	price0	400	GASFC0
8	1	price10	range100	EVFC2	year2	price0	range300	EVFC0	year1	price10	400	GASFC1
9	1	price10	range100	EVFC1	year0	price10	range100	EVFC2	year2	price0	400	GASFC2
10	2	price10	range200	EVFC0	yearl	price0	range200	EVFC0	year3	price20	400	GASFC0
11	2	price20	range100	EVFC1	year3	price10	range100	EVFC0	year2	price20	400	GASFC0
12	2	price20	range200	EVFC0	year2	price0	range200	EVFC2	year3	price0	400	GASFC2
13	2	price0	range300	EVFC2	year0	price0	range100	EVFC2	year0	price20	400	GASFC0
14	2	price0	range100	EVFC0	yearl	price20	range300	EVFC0	year3	price0	400	GASFC2
15	2	price20	range300	EVFC2	yearl	price0	range100	EVFC0	year0	price0	400	GASFC2
16	2	price20	range100	EVFC0	year0	price20	range300	EVFC2	year1	price20	400	GASFC0
17	2	price0	range100	EVFC1	year2	price0	range200	EVFC1	year2	price20	400	GASFC2
18	2	price0	range200	EVFC0	year3	price10	range100	EVFC2	year1	price10	400	GASFC1
19	3	price20	range100	EVFC1	year3	price0	range200	EVFC2	year0	price10	400	GASFC1
20	3	price20	range200	EVFC0	year2	price10	range100	EVFC1	year1	price20	400	GASFC2
21	3	price20	range200	EVFC2	year0	price20	range200	EVFC0	year2	price10	400	GASFC0
22	3	price20	range300	EVFC1	year1	price10	range300	EVFC1	year3	price0	400	GASFC1
23	3	price0	range200	EVFC2	year3	price20	range200	EVFC1	year2	price0	400	GASFC1
24	3	price0	range300	EVFC1	year2	price10	range300	EVFC0	year3	price10	400	GASFC0
25	3	price10	range100	EVFC0	year0	price10	range200	EVFC0	year0	price0	400	GASFC1
26	3	price10	range200	EVFC1	year1	price0	range100	EVFC1	year3	price10	400	GASFC0
27	3	price0	range100	EVFC0	year1	price10	range200	EVFC1	year0	price10	400	GASFC0
28	4	price0	range200	EVFC1	year0	price0	range100	EVFC0	year1	price0	400	GASFC1
29	4	price10	range200	EVFC2	year2	price10	range300	EVFC2	year2	price0	400	GASFC0
30	4	price10	range300	EVFC1	year3	price20	range200	EVFC0	year1	price20	400	GASFC2
31	4	price0	range200	EVFC2	year3	price10	range300	EVFC0	year0	price20	400	GASFC2
32	4	price0	range300	EVFC1	year2	price20	range200	EVFC2	year1	price0	400	GASFC0
33	4	price0	range300	EVFC0	year0	price0	range300	EVFC1	year2	price20	400	GASFC1
34	4	price0	range100	EVFC2	year1	price20	range100	EVFC2	year3	price10	400	GASFC2
35	4	price10	range300	EVFC0	year3	price0	range300	EVFC2	year2	price10	400	GASFC2
36	4	price10	range100	EVFC2	year2	price20	range100	EVFC1	year3	price20	400	GASFC1

Table 4 Vehicle choice experimental design

DATA AND DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS

The stated preference survey was administered between July 10, 2020 - August 25, 2020, to examine the aspects of free charging. A total of 4,230 panelists were invited to participate in the survey by employing a probability-based internet panel. Out of which 1,097 respondents actively engaged and completed the survey.

Out of which 250 respondents were assigned the adaptive vehicle choice SP survey and the rest were directed to complete another choice experiment on charger choice. Only the vehicle choice data was utilized for the paper. The respondents were contacted to a maximum of four times through emails with necessitated follow-up email notices. The median completion time for the survey was eleven minutes. A summary of the survey design methodology for the SP surveys is presented in Table 5.

Time frame	July 10, 2020 - August 25, 2020
Target population	Civilian and non-institutional adults who are residents of the
	United States households (age 18 years and older)
Sampling frame	Address and demographics-based sampling by NORC
Sample designing technique	Probability and address based internet panel
Use of Interviewer	Self-administered
Mode of Administration	Self-administered via the internet
Computer Assistance	Internet-based survey
Reporting Unit	One person (age 18+) per household
Frequency	One time response collection
Levels of observation	Individual, Household
Survey designing platform	Qualtrics

Table 5 Survey design methodology

The target population included civilians and non-institutional adults who are residents of the United States households (age 18 years and above). For the sampling frame, National Opinion Research Center (NORC) covered a common population of U.S adults, 18 years or older from the NORC's AmeriSpeak Panel. The sample was selected from this panel by stratifying the population by age, race/Hispanic ethnicity, education, gender, and other 44 characteristics out of a total of 48 characteristics collected in the data.

The final sample size for each sampling group was obtained by using the population distribution of the classification. Additionally, to make sure that the panel members who completed the survey were the representative sample of the target population, the expected differential survey completion rates for each demographic classification were also taken into consideration for sampling. Only one person (18 years or above) per household was eligible to participate. The period for which the sampled panelists were eligible to take the survey began on 10th of July, 2020 and ended on 25th of August, 2020.

NORC had a screening stage system that helped to locate panelists who were eligible and qualified to take the survey. A survey was marked as 'Complete' if the eligible panelist completed the survey. The sample statistics of the final weighted and unweighted sample is available in Table 6.

Post-survey adjustment was a repertoire of statistical weighting of the respondents for which NORC weighted the sample of the eligible respondents who completed the survey by using panel base sampling weights. The 'panel base sampling weights' per household were estimated as the inverse of the probability of getting selected from the NORC National Frame or the address-based sample. NORC' National Frame is the prime sampling frame from which the sample households were selected for AmeriSpeak panel.

	W	EIGHTED	UN	WEIGHTED
	Mean	Standard	Mean	Standard
Gender				
Male	0.49	0.50	0.48	0.50
Female	0.51	0.50	0.52	0.50
Age				
18-29	0.21	0.41	0.19	0.39
30-44	0.26	0.44	0.35	0.48
45-59	0.24	0.43	0.20	0.40
60 and above	0.29	0.46	0.26	0.44
Education				
No HS diploma	0.11	0.32	0.06	0.24
HS graduate or equivalent	0.26	0.44	0.16	0.37
Some college	0.28	0.45	0.45	0.50
BA or above	0.34	0.47	0.33	0.47
Employment				
Employed Full Time	0.51	0.50	0.54	0.50
Employed Part Time	0.12	0.32	0.12	0.33
Retired	0.19	0.39	0.16	0.37
Student (and not employed for	0.04	0.20	0.03	0.18
Disabled (and not employed for	0.04	0.20	0.04	0.20
Not employed for pay	0.07	0.25	0.07	0.26
Other	0.02	0.13	0.02	0.15
Region				
New England	0.05	0.21	0.05	0.22
Mid-Atlantic	0.10	0.30	0.07	0.26
East North Central	0.16	0.36	0.16	0.37
West North Central	0.06	0.24	0.09	0.28
South Atlantic	0.21	0.41	0.18	0.38
East South Central	0.05	0.22	0.05	0.21
West South Central	0.12	0.32	0.10	0.30
Mountain	0.08	0.27	0.11	0.31
Pacific	0.18	0.39	0.20	0.40

Table 6 Sample descriptive statistics

MODELING METHODOLOGY

The panel data were first analyzed using a multinomial logit approach followed by a mixed logit (random parameters) and a latent class model. The value of free necessitated adding a dummy variable to the model for when fueling cost was zero. In statistical modeling, we use dummy variables to indicate the deficiency or attendance of some definite effect that is assumed to influence the result. Discrete choice models are adequately versatile to determine the value of free (willingness-to-pay and zero-price effect) through a ratio of coefficients. Additionally, it can determine any systematic taste variation in the value of free. The fundamental modeling approach used for the estimation was based on the random utility maximization. For any statistical model, the structural relationship between the variables and the error term (indicating the wavelength of measurement errors) plays a vital part in model performance.

For the vehicle choice experiment, each individual was assumed to have a deterministic utility for each vehicle (in this case, three vehicles, namely EV A, EV B, and a gasoline vehicle) in a decision-based conditions. The utility functions used for modeling the three given alternatives of the vehicles can be expressed as,

$$U_{i} = \alpha_{i} + \beta_{p}P_{i} + \beta_{r}R_{i} + \beta_{fc}FC_{i} + \beta_{f1}F_{1i} + \beta_{f2}F_{2i} + \beta_{f3}F_{3i}...$$
(3)

where, U_i refers to the utility function for alternative *I*; α_i denotes the alternative-specific constants for alternative *i*, P_i denotes purchase price of alternative *i* in 1000s of dollars; R_i is the driving range of alternative *i* in miles; FC_i denotes the fuel cost of alternative *i* in 100s of dollars; F_{ti} is an indicator denoting *t* years of free charging bundle in alternative *I*; and β_p , β_r , β_{fc} , β_{f1} , β_{f2} , and β_{f3} are model parameters that are generic across the three vehicle choices.

All the discrete choice approaches used for modeling consisted of the coefficient of years of free charging attribute (β_{f1} , β_{f2} , and β_{f3}) and coefficient of purchase price variable (β_p), to capture the distribution of the zero-price effect that varies across the population. The zero-price effect or willingness-to-pay was estimated using the following formula in dollars for the stated years of free charging, *t*:

$$WTP_{F,t} = \frac{\frac{\partial F_{ti}}{\partial U_i}}{\frac{\partial P_i}{\partial U_X}} = \frac{\beta_{ft}}{\beta_p}$$
(4)

To arrive at an accurate monetary value of the zero-price effect in context of EV charging, three distinct models were estimated. First, a multinomial logit model will serve as a start point for estimating, mixed logit model and a latent class model. Second, in context of vehicle choice, two distinct models were estimated, a multinomial and a mixed logit model. Third, the monetary value of free charging will be derived from all modeling approaches and compared in both, the consumer's vehicle preference setups.

In the next section, the methodology for mixed logit model with random parameters is discussed followed by the methodology of the latent class logit model.

Mixed Logit Model and Random parameters

For standard multinomial logit results, if the disturbances are of extreme value type I, the probability of observation n having a discrete outcome denoted by i, where $i \in I$ and I refers to all the possible outcomes for n observation can be expressed as (William et al. 2020),

$$Pr_{n}(i) = \frac{EXP(\beta_{i}X_{in})}{\sum_{\forall I} EXP(\beta_{i}X_{in})}$$
(5)

A mixed logit model is an advance form of discrete choice model that can accommodate a mixing distribution. The outcome probabilities of a mixed logit model can be expressed as,

$$Pr_n^m(i) = \int_{x} P_n(i) f(\beta|\varphi) d\beta$$
(6)

where, $f(\beta|\varphi)$ is the function denoting the density of β , φ refers to a vector of parameters with the stated density function. By combining equation (5) and (6), we obtain the mixed logit

model expressed as,

$$Pr_{n}(i) = \frac{EXP(\beta_{i}X_{in})}{\sum_{\forall I} EXP(\beta_{i}X_{in})} f(\beta|\varphi)$$
(7)

The random-parameters logit approaches various limitations that the standard multinomial logit model fails to apprehend. It facilitates parameter values to vary over the observations. Random parameters are used to estimate models to avoid incorrect parameter estimates if the assumptions made while modeling are not satisfied. In the mixed logit model, the variables used as random parameters namely, free price indicator, charge time and detour time are assumed to have a normal distribution. The importance of normal distribution can be explained by the central limit theorem. It asserts that the average of given observations of a random variable (with a finite mean and variance) is a random variable with a normal distribution. The distribution grows seemingly normal as the number of observations increases. That also explains the theory behind the error term's (also referred to as measurement error) approximately normal distribution (Lyon, 2014).

Latent Class Logit model

Random parameters were used in the mixed logit model to accommodate unobserved heterogeneity. In a model specification, random parameters need a defined distribution that indicates the impact of unobserved heterogeneity on the parameter across the observations. Hence, the random parameters were assumed to have a normal distribution across the observations while estimating the mixed logit model.

Washington et al. (2020) mentioned that Ione of the many possible reasons for the unobserved heterogeneity could be that although parameters fluctuate across groups, they are fixed within the groups. On the other hand, a latent class model does not require any such assumption about the distribution. The model itself makes parametric assumptions based on observations.

However, a limitation of using the standard latent class model is that each group or class's parameters are fixed across observations. Therefore, one can choose to combine both the models and generate a latent class model with random parameters. In that, the latent classes will be identified based on respondent's decisions, and the parameters will be allowed to vary individually across the observations within every class (William et al. Chapter 17, 2020). For this project, a latent class multinomial logit model was estimated that captured the charging choice behavior in the specified model by distributing responses into appropriate classes based on the preferences. The allotment of the observations to particular classes enables the latent class model to recognize class-specific unobserved heterogeneity (Xiong and Mannering, 2013). Simultaneously, the model also accounts for heterogeneity caused due to diverse attitudinal reflexes towards free charging, amenities, demographics, and socioeconomic variables across the population in distinct classes.

The discrete choice models are expressed as a linear function of utilities U_{in} that estimates the discrete outcomes i for n observation in a system where, (see William et al. chapter 13, 17),

$$U_{in} = \beta_i X_{in} + \varepsilon_{in} \,. \tag{8}$$

Here, i refers to the potential discrete outcomes, β_i refers to a vector of parameters to be estimated for discrete outcome i, X_{in} indicates a vector of the identifiable characteristics that are used to estimate discrete outcomes n, and ε_{in} denotes error term that accounts for extreme-value disturbances of Type 1(McFadden, 1981) as mentioned in William et al. (2020). The outcome probabilities can be expressed as,

$$Pr_n(i|c) = \frac{EXP(\beta_{ic}X_{in})}{\sum_{\forall I} EXP(\beta_{ic}X_{in})}$$
(9)

where $Pr_n(i|c)$ denotes the probability of discrete outcome i, for n observation that is part of an unobserved class denoted by c (Greene and Hensher, 2003). Willian et al. (2020) determined the multinomial logit form that can be used to find the unconditional class probabilities denoted by $Pr_n(c)$, where Z_n refers to a vector of characteristics that is used to estimate the probabilities of class c for n observation, α_n is a equivalent vector of measurable parameters.

$$Pr_n(c) = \frac{EXP(\alpha_c Z_n)}{\sum_{\forall c} EXP(\alpha_c Z_n)}$$
(10)

As explained in Willian et al. (2020), by using the formulations provided by equation (9) and equation (10), the unrestricted probability of an individual n falling in charger choice category i can be represented as,

$$Pr_n(i) = \sum_{\forall C} Pr_n(c) \times Pr_n(i|c)$$
(11)

Latent class models can be promptly estimated with maximum likelihood strategies (Greene and Hensher, 2003) and (Hensher et al. 2005). The log-likelihood function can be formulated as,

$$lnL = \sum_{i=1}^{N} lnPr_{i} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} ln[\sum_{q=1}^{Q} H_{iq}(\prod_{t=1}^{T_{i}} Pr_{it|q})]$$
(12)

14

where Hiq refers to the prior probability of a class q for an individual i and $Pr_{it|q}$ denotes the probability for the particular choice of an individual i in a choice situation denoted by t | class q.

The zero-price effect and willingness-to-pay are estimated using the results from latent class model with each class having a different value of the zero-price effect based on the distribution of parameters in the respective classes.

Error Component Latent Class Model

The study also utilized an error component latent class (ECLC) model to estimate consumer preference across the three labeled alternatives: EV A, EV B, and Gasoline Vehicle. A latent class model was chosen for the analysis to account for preference heterogeneity in different membership classes. An error component latent class model captures the correlation between the EV alternatives. The general utility function for the RPLC model can be written as:

$$U_{nim} = \beta_m X_{nim} + \mu_m Z_i + \varepsilon_{nim} \tag{13}$$

 U_{nim} is the utility of alternative *i* for individual *n* if in membership class *m*. β_m : coefficients for individual-specific alternative attributes X_{njm} in class *m*. μ_m is a normally distributed error component, standard deviation σ_{EV} for class *m*. Z_i is an indicator that alternative *i* is an EV. And ε_{nim} is an i.i.d. Gumbel error term.

The likelihood for the panel data where an individual n chooses alternative j in membership class m, C is the choice set inclusive of all alternatives, M_n is the number of membership class for individual n, can be expressed in the form:

$$L_{njm}(\beta) = \prod_{m=1}^{M_n} \frac{\exp\left(\beta_m X_{nim} + \mu_m Z_i\right)}{\sum_{j \in C} \exp\left(\beta_m X_{njm} + \mu_m Z_j\right)}$$
(14)

The probability that an individual n will choose alternative j can be expressed as the integral of the product of logit probabilities for all β :

$$Pr_{nim} = \int \left[\prod_{m=1}^{M_n} \frac{\exp\left(\beta_m X_{ni} + \mu_m Z_i\right)}{\sum_{j \in C} \exp\left(\beta_m X_{nj} + \mu_m Z_j\right)} \right] f(\mu) d\mu$$
(15)

ANALYSIS AND RESULTS

In this chapter, the effects of the purchase price, driving range, annual fuel cost, and years of free charging on free value were estimated. Two discrete choice models, namely, multinomial logit model and mixed logit were utilized. The vehicle choice experiment was divided into two components. The first one comprised of the consumer's vehicle choice where an individual got the choice of two EVs (EV A and EV B) and a gasoline vehicle whereas, the second one only gave a choice of two EVs. For every household, it was assumed that an individual decided the vehicle preference for the entire household. Table 7 displays the sample statistics of the variables that were used to generate the models for the choice of electric vehicles.

Table 7 Summary statistics for model variables for electric vehicle binary choice									
Variable Description	Mean	SD	Min	Max					
Purchase price of the EV (1000s of dollars)	22.24	11.82	10	72					
Driving range of the EV (Miles)	193.10	81.50	100	300					
Annual fuel cost of the EV (100s of dollars)	5.97	7.71	0.5	73					
Two years of free charging	0.22	0.41	0	1					
(1 if the free charging is provided for two years, 0 otherwise)									
Three years of free charging	0.26	0.45	0	1					
(1 if the free charging is provided for three years, 0									
otherwise)									

Table 7 Summary statistics for model variables for electric vehicle binary choice

The first component estimation (Electric Vehicle Binary Choice) is discussed in the following section where an individual got the choice of two EVs: EV A and EV B.

Electric Vehicle Binary Choice

Multinomial Logit Model

The model was estimated using a statistical package called Apollo in R-Studio. Table 8 represents the results from the multinomial logit model including the model variables, its parameter estimates and t-statistics. All the variables used in the model are significant at 99% confidence level. The description follows this section, estimation results, and the conclusion of fixing the mixed logit model with random parameters for the final estimation.

Variable Description	Estimated	t statistic	
	Parameter		
Constant (EV Vehicle B)	0.16	3.12	
Purchase price of the EV (1000s of dollars)	-0.15	-7.98	
Driving range of the EV (Miles)	0.01	20.23	
Annual fuel cost of the EV (100s of dollars)	-0.10	-6.84	
Two years of free charging	0.77	8.19	
(1 if the free charging is provided for two years, 0 otherwise)			
Three years of free charging	1.09	13.44	
(1 if the free charging is provided for three years, 0 otherwise)			
Number of individuals	258		
Number of observations	232	21	
Log likelihood at zero	-1608	8.80	
Log likelihood at convergence	-1208.03		
McFadden ρ^2	0.25		
AIC	2428	3.07	
BIC	2462	2.57	

Table 8 Multinomial logit estimation results for the electric vehicle binary choice

The first year of free charging was not included in the model as it did not generate the expected direction. Thus, the model was estimated using the two and the three years of free charging.

To test the significance of the multinomial logit model, a likelihood ratio test was performed. Two models were compared: multinomial logit model, and the mixed logit model. The equation used to perform the likelihood ratio test can be expressed as,

$$\chi^2 = -2[LL(\beta_R) - LL(\beta_U)] \tag{6.11}$$

where, $LL(\beta_R)$ is the log likelihood at convergence that utilizes the restricted betas for price and $LL(\beta_U)$ is the log likelihood at convergence that utilizes the unrestricted betas for price. The null hypothesis can be written as: The multinomial logit model and the mixed logit model are the same.

The null hypothesis was rejected with 99% confidence. Hence it was established that mixed logit approach improved the model significantly.

Mixed Logit Model (Random parameters)

The likelihood ratio test that was performed for the multinomial logit model and the mixed logit also established that mixed logit had significant random parameters confirming the presence of heterogeneity across all the individuals. Additionally, a likelihood ratio test was performed to check for the significance of any possible correlation between the random parameters, and it was found that the correlated random parameters did not improve the model significantly. Therefore, a mixed logit model with random parameters was finalized for the estimation.

The model was estimated using a statistical package called Apollo in R-Studio. Table 9 represents the results from the mixed logit model with random parameters including the model variables, parameter estimate and t-statistics. All the variables used in the model are significant at 99% confidence level with a log-likelihood of -1117.3 and an AIC of 2250.66.

Variable Description	Estimated Parameter	t statistic	
Constant (EV Vehicle B)	0.18	3.03	
Purchase price of the EV (1000s of dollars)	-0.21	-8.42	
Driving range of the EV (Miles)	0.02	12.84	
(Standard deviation of parameter estimate, normally distributed, in parentheses)	(-0.01)	(-9.93)	
Annual fuel cost of the EV (100s of dollars)	-0.23	-5.60	
(Standard deviation of parameter estimate, normally distributed, in parentheses)	(0.17)	(3.63)	
Two years of free charging	0.83	7.55	
(1 if the free charging is provided for two years, 0 otherwise)			
Three years of free charging	1.34	13.44	
(1 if the free charging is provided for three years, 0 otherwise)			
Number of individuals	25	8	
Number of observations	232	21	
Log likelihood at zero	-1608	8.80	
Log likelihood at convergence	-1117.33		
Halton Draws	1000		
McFadden ρ^2	0.31		
AIC	2250	.66	
BIC	2296	.65	

Table 9 Mixed logit	with random	parameters	results for	the electric	vehicle binary	choice
Tuble 7 Millacu logit	with rangom	parameters	results for		venicie binary	choice

The purchase price of the EV induced a disutility for individuals. Since the EV market is at a developing stage, several different EV brands are sold at a much higher value of the purchase price than the purchase of the gasoline vehicles.

The driving range and the annual fuel cost of the EVs confirmed the presence of significant random parameters, and the attributes were assumed to be normally distributed. It also indicated that individuals preferred EVs with a higher driving range. The driving range of EVs induced a utility for the individuals, which can be explained by the higher and improved range of EVs as contrasted to any other type of vehicle. Another possible explanation can be that it reduced the need to repeatedly stop for charging the EV and thus increased their travel time by a considerable amount. However, the annual cost of the EVs induced a disutility for individuals.

The parameters indicating free charging years, two years of free charging, and three years of free charging, both induced utility for individuals. The parameter indicating three years of free

charging generated a higher utility than the two years of free charging parameter. This established that individuals attended free charging at positive value (see section 9 for the estimated WTP).

The second component estimation (Electric and Conventional Vehicle Choice) is discussed in the following section where an individual got the choice of two EVs and a gasoline vehicle.

Electric and Conventional Vehicle Choice

Table 10 displays the sample statistics of the variables that were used to generate the models and the results.

Variable Description	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Purchase price of the vehicle (1000s of dollars)	22.25	11.82	10	72
Driving range of the vehicle (Miles)	266.00	81.54	100	400
Annual fuel cost of the vehicle (100s of dollars)	7.18	7.69	0.5	73
Two years of free charging (1 if the free charging is provided for two years, 0 otherwise)	0.22	0.41	0	1
Three years of free charging (1 if the free charging is provided for three years, 0 otherwise)	0.26	0.45	0	1

Table 10 Summary statistics of model variables for electric and conventional vehicle choice

Multinomial Logit Model

The model was estimated using a statistical package called Apollo in R-Studio. Table 11 represents the results from the multinomial logit model including the model variables, its parameter estimates and t-statistics. All the variables used in the model are significant at 99% confidence level. The description and estimation results follow this section and the explanation for concluding the mixed logit model with random parameters for the final estimation. Since it is a labeled experiment, the alternative specific constants were fixed for both the EVs (EV A and EV B), allowing for the estimation of the gasoline vehicle's alternative specific constant.

Variable Description	Estimated Parameter	t statistic	
Constant (Gasoline Vehicle)	-0.62	-6.46	
Purchase price of the vehicle (1000s of dollars)	-0.07	-5.16	
Driving range of the vehicle (Miles)	0.01	17.65	
Annual fuel cost of the vehicle (100s of dollars)	-0.02	-3.46	
Two years of free charging for EVs (1 if the free charging is provided for two years, 0 otherwise)	0.35	3.78	
Three years of free charging for EVs (1 if the free charging is provided for three years, 0 otherwise)	0.53	6.73	
Number of individuals	258		
Number of observations	231	1	
Log likelihood at zero	-2538	.89	
Log likelihood at convergence	-2266.40		
McFadden ρ^2	0.11		
AIC	4544	.79	
BIC	4579	.26	

Table 11 Multinomial logit estimation results for the electric & co	onventional	vehicle choice
X · II D · /·		1 4 4 4 4

The first year of free charging was not included in the model as it did not generate the expected direction. Thus, the model was estimated using the two and three years of free charging.

To test the significance of the multinomial and the mixed logit model in this case, a similar likelihood ratio test was performed. Two models were analyzed; the multinomial logit model and the mixed logit model, with a conclusion that the mixed logit approach improved the model significantly with 99% confidence.

Mixed Logit Model (Random parameters)

The finding from the likelihood ratio test also established that mixed logit had significant random parameters validating the existence of heterogeneity across all the individuals.

Additionally, a likelihood ratio test was performed to check for the significance of any potential correlation between the random parameters and it was found that the correlated random parameters did not improve the model significantly. Therefore, a mixed logit model with random parameters was finalized for the estimation.

The model was estimated using the same statistical package called Apollo in R-Studio. Table 12 represents the results from the mixed logit model with random parameters including the model variables, parameter estimate and t-statistics. All the variables used in the model are significant at 99% confidence level with a log-likelihood of -1557.65 and an AIC of 3131.31.

Variable Description	Estimated Parameter	<i>t</i> statistic		
Constant (Gasoline Vehicle)	3.12	15.21		
Purchase price of the vehicle (1000s of dollars)	-0.15	-6.56		
Driving range of the vehicle (Miles)	0.01	5.63		
(Standard deviation of parameter estimate, normally distributed, in parentheses)	(0.02)	(10.17)		
Annual fuel cost of the vehicle (100s of dollars)	-0.19	-5.28		
(Standard deviation of parameter estimate, normally distributed, in parentheses)	(0.34)	(5.43)		
Two years of free charging for EVs	0.63	4.83		
(1 if the free charging is provided for two years, 0 otherwise)				
Three years of free charging for EVs	0.96	8.72		
(1 if the free charging is provided for three years, 0 otherwise)				
Number of individuals	25	58		
Number of observations	23	11		
Log likelihood at zero	-253	8.89		
Log likelihood at convergence	-1557.65			
Halton Draws	1000			
McFadden ρ^2	0.39			
AIC	313	1.31		
BIC	317	7.27		

Table 12 Mixed logit results for the electric and conventional vehicle choice

The purchase price of the vehicle induced a disutility for individuals. The driving range and the annual fuel cost of the EVs established the presence of significant random parameters, and the attributes were considered to be normally distributed. The driving range of vehicles induced a utility for the individuals. The indicated that individuals prefer vehicles with a higher driving range as it reduces their dependence on the fuel and the need to repeatedly stop for fueling the vehicle and thus increasing their travel time. The annual cost of the vehicles induced a disutility for individuals. The annual fuel cost of gasoline vehicles is much higher than that of the EVs, and hence it can be concluded that the disutility is rational in occurrence.

The parameters indicating free charging years for EVs, namely, two years of free charging, and three years of free charging, both induced utility for individuals. Similar to the result of the mixed logit with random parameters for the choice of EVs, the parameter indicating three years of free charging for this model generated a higher utility than the two years of free charging parameter. This established that individuals valued free charging at positive range.

It should be recorded that since gasoline vehicles do not have any free charging elements, the utility function did not include any parameter or coefficient for free charging years.

In the next section, the distribution of the zero-price effect is discussed with respect to the charger and the vehicle choice.

Distribution of the Zero-Price Effect

Table 13 presents a distribution of ZPE from two years of free charging, ZPE from three years of free charging and value of range across the United States residents who are 18 years and above for the vehicle choice experiment with the corresponding log-likelihood, the estimated AIC and BIC.

Model	LL	AIC	BIC	K	ZPE (2 years)	ZPE (3 years)		Value of Range
Electric Vehicle	e Binary Cho	oice						
MNL	-1208.03	2428.0 7	2462.5 7	6	-\$5133	-\$7266.67		- \$66.67
Mixed Logit (Random parameters)	-1117.3	2250.6 6	2296.6 5	1 2	-\$3952	(Mean) \$4708.92 (SD) \$3031.11	-	- \$62.25 - \$39.64
Electric and Co	onventional V	Vehicle Ch	oice					
MNL	- 2266.395	4544.7 9	4579.2 6	7	-\$5000	-\$7571		-\$143
Mixed Logit (Random parameters)	-1557.6	3131.3 1	3177.2 7	13	-\$4200	(Mean) \$6318.55 (SD) \$4579.65	-	- \$48.66 - \$44.79

 Table 13 Vehicle choice distribution for the value of free

The zero-price effect (ZPE) was calculated separately for the free charging provided for two years and three years. For one year, the free charging period was not used in the model as it did not improve the log-likelihood significantly. It was also separated by the two components of the vehicle choice experiment.

The ZPE obtained signified the price that the individuals assumed they got profited by receiving two or three years of free charging. The ZPE is the price that they would have to pay to charge their EVs for the stated number of years if they did not have free charging for those years.

For the component representing the electric vehicle binary choice, the highest ZPE for two years of free charging was generated by the multinomial logit model (MNL) priced at -\$5133 for two years. However, the distribution can be explained better by using a mixed logit model with random parameters as it significantly improved the model. The ZPE generated by the mixed logit model with random parameters was priced at -\$3952 for two years of free charging. Similarly, the basic MNL produced the higher ZPE for three years of free charging priced at --\$7266.67, and the mixed logit with random parameters produced a ZPE with a mean of -\$4708.92 and a standard deviation of -\$3031.11.

The component representing two EVs and gasoline vehicles' choice established a ZPE of -\$5000 and -\$4200 for the MNL and the mixed logit with random parameters, respectively, for two years of free charging. The three years of free charging generated a ZPE of -\$7571 using the MNL and a ZPE with a mean of -\$6318.55and a standard deviation of -\$4579.65 by utilizing a mixed logit model with random parameters.

The value of the range was estimated for both the components of the vehicle choice experiment. The WTP for the driving range by the Dimitropoulos et al. (2013) was based on the reviews of around 30 past pieces of research about the value of the driving range. The WTP for a marginal increase in the driving range can be expressed as the ratio of the marginal utilities of the driving range and the purchase price:

$$WTP_{Range} = \frac{-(\partial U_i/\partial R_x)}{(\partial U_i/\partial P_x)},$$
(9.1)

where R represents the driving range of the vehicle, P is an indicator of the purchase price and U is an individual's stochastic utility function.

The value of the range is termed variously by researchers such as 'WTP for increased range' in Greene et al. (2020) and 'WTP to pay for driving range' in Dimitropoulos et al. (2013). A comprehensive review of the past literature on the value of range was presented in Greene et al. (2020) stating that the mean WTP for increased range from Dimitropoulos et al. (2013) was assessed at \$67 per mile of the range. Additionally, Greene et al. (2017) valued the WTP for the increased range at \$90 per mile traveled.

Considering the Electric vehicle binary choice experiment, the value of range was estimated sing equation (9.1) at \$66 per mile using the MNL and -\$62.25 (Mean) and -\$39.64 (Standard deviation) using the mixed logit with random parameters. The value of the range was calculated at -\$48.66 (Mean) and -\$44.79 (Standard deviation) using the mixed logit and, \$143 per mile using the MNL for the Electric and Conventional Vehicle Choice. The WTP for the driving range, confirmed with the valued obtained from the last research.

It should be remarked that the computations are based on Bayesian estimation from Greene (2004). The ZPE values were evaluated concerning individual-level parameters for the parameters that were discovered to be random (varying across individual).

Error Component Latent Class Model

An exploratory latent class approach was employed initially where the number of classes was chosen depending on sample-adjusted BIC. The five class models had best performance with a SABIC of 2619 as compared to the four- and six-class models (SABICs of 2636 and 2631 respectively). When looking at the significance of parameter estimates within the classes, the modelers noticed that the classes generally fit a pattern of attribute non-attendance. For parsimonious and interpretative reasons, restricted models of attribute non-attendance were estimated and are presented in Table 14.

The first class exhibits insensitivity to the electric vehicle options. A significant proportion of respondent showed no interest in EVs as evidenced by choosing the conventional vehicle option across all scenarios. The Conventional Only class accounted for approximately 33% of the weighted sample.

The second class are individuals who are insensitive to free charging. This group was approximately 5 percent of the population. Individuals in this group exhibited a willingness to pay (WTP) for 1 miles of range of approximately \$662. This is due to the very small and insignificant sensitivity to cost.

Classes three through five include people of varying attentiveness to free charging. The third class included individuals who preferred at least three years of free charging. This group was approximately 15% of the population. Their WTP for a 3-year free charging bundle was \$4,710. Individuals in this group exhibited a WTP for 1 mile of range of approximately \$248.

The fourth class included individuals who preferred at least two years of free charging. This group was approximately 12% of the population. Their WTP for a 3-year free charging bundle was \$4,230, while their WTP for two years was \$2,205. Individuals in this group exhibited a WTP for 1 miles of range of approximately \$19. This group was less sensitive to cost than classes 3 and 5.

The fifth class included individuals who were interested in free charging bundles of one, two, and three years in length. This group was approximately 36% of the population. Their WTP for a free charging bundle was \$2,992 for one year, \$4,814 for two years, and \$9,065 for three years. Individuals in this group exhibited a WTP for 1 miles of range of approximately \$112.

The parameter estimates along with the ZPE and value of range for all the classes is displayed in Table 14.

	Class 1: Conventie	onal	Class 2: Inattentiv	ve Free	Class 3: 3 Year	3 Years Free 2+ Years Free			2		
Variable	Only		Charging	Charging		Charging		Charging		Free Charging	
	Estimat	t-stat	Estimat	t-stat	Estimat	t-stat	Estimat	t-stat	Estimat	t-stat	
	e		e		e		e		e		
Constant (Electric Vehicle B)	-0.67	-1.69	1.38	4.71	0.65	1.49	-0.13	-0.30	0.27	1.58	
Constant (Gasoline Vehicle)	10.55	18.57	1.56	3.55	9.60	3.08	-12.04	-1.46	5.81	7.71	
Purchase price (\$1000)	0.00		0.00	-0.05	-0.22	-1.87	-1.23	-2.26	-0.16	-3.89	
Driving range (100-mi) [EV Only]	0.00	•	0.31	1.90	5.54	3.55	2.30	2.75	1.75	6.99	
Annual fuel cost (\$100) [All Alts]	0.00	•	-0.54	-2.14	-3.93	-4.42	-1.08	-2.72	-0.16	-4.19	
One-year free charging indicator	0.00	•	0.00	•	0.00	•	0.00	•	0.47	1.23	
Two years free charging indicator	0.00	•	0.00	•	0.00	•	2.72	2.77	0.75	1.80	
Three years free charging	0.00		0.00		1.05	1.57	5.22	2.19	1.42	3.68	
indicator											
Variance of EV Error Component	10.42	13.76	0.00	•	11.45	3.26	22.00	2.52	1.90	3.57	
Class probability	0.3296		0.0477		0.1453		0.1186		0.3588		
WTP: 1 year of free charging (\$)									\$2,992		
WTP: 2 years of free charging (\$)							\$2,205		\$4,814		
WTP: 3 years of free charging (\$)					\$4,710		\$4,230		\$9,065		
WTP: EV range (\$/mi)			\$662 \$2		\$248		\$19		\$112		
Number of Individuals	250										
Number of Observations	2250										
Number of Parameters	36										
Log-likelihood (constants only)	-2326.67										
Log-likelihood at convergence	-1271.86										
McFadden ρ ²	0.45										
Sample-Adjusted BIC	2628.38										

Table 14 Error component latent class results for the electric & conventional vehicle choice

CONCLUSIONS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Using a representative sample of 250 individuals from the US, the project proposed finding out the potential consumer 'value of free charging' as a function of dollars per charging event, exclusively for public charging infrastructures, by employing an adaptive labelled stated preference (SP) survey and a mixed logit model. Results from latent class discrete choice models showed heterogeneity in the sensitivity to free charging time scale (at two to three years) with a significant share of the population showing no sensitivity to a single year of free charging. Respondents valued free charging between about \$1100 to \$3000 per year depending on class (attentiveness to free charging). A significant proportion of the population showed no interest in electric vehicles. By using a latent class formulation, this group can be explicitly accounted for thus leading to less bias in estimating willingness-to-pay for EV attributes.

This study did not include socio-demographics in the model specifications. This was chosen due to the study's focus on policy and measurement rather than behavioral explanation. For early analysis of free charging policies and pricing structures, the cost-effectiveness of the policy is a greater focus than the exact structure of the policy, so a looser mean-focus and distributionfocused approach brings greater value. Future work can look at the demographic characteristics of the preference classes. This allows for tailoring the policies and business plan around groups that may see greater benefit from the program or groups most likely to use chargers from companies that offer free charging in some form. Understanding the demographic also may have implication for equity analysis.

REFERENCES

- Abotalebi, E., Mahmoud, M., Ferguson, M., & Kanaroglou, P. S. (2015). Utilizing stated preference in electric vehicle research; evidence from the literature. In Proceedings of the 50th Annual Canadian Transport Research Forum Conference, Montreal (pp. 1-19).
- Achtnicht, M., Bühler, G., & Hermeling, C. (2012). The impact of fuel availability on demand for alternative-fuel vehicles. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 17(3), 262-269.
- Ariely, D. (2008). Predictably Irrational. Harper Collins, New York.
- Al-Alawi, B. M., & Bradley, T. H. (2013). Review of hybrid, plug-in hybrid, and electric vehicle market modeling studies. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 21, 190-203.
- Barbour, N., Zhang, Y., & Mannering, F. (2020). An exploratory analysis of the role of sociodemographic and health-related factors in ridesourcing behavior. Journal of Transport & Health, 16, 100832.
- Behnood, A., Roshandeh, A. M., & Mannering, F. L. (2014). Latent class analysis of the effects of age, gender, and alcohol consumption on driver-injury severities. Analytic Methods in Accident Research, 3, 56-91.
- Ben-Akiva, M.E. & Lerman, S. R. (1985). Discrete choice analysis: Theory and application to travel demand. MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass.
- Boersch-Supan, A., Hajivassiliou, V. (1993). Smooth unbiased multivariate probability simulators for maximum likelihood estimation of limited dependent variable models. Journal of Econometrics58, 347–368.
- Brownstone, D., Train, K. (1999). Forecasting new product penetration with flexible substitution patterns. Journal of Econometrics 89, 109–129.
- Bruine de Bruin, W., Parker, A. M., & Fischhoff, B. (2007). Individual differences in adult decisionmaking competence. Journal of personality and social psychology, 92(5), 938.
- Carlson, R. B., Wishart, J., & Stutenberg, K. (2016). On-road and dynamometer evaluation of vehicle auxiliary loads. SAE International Journal of Fuels and Lubricants, 9(1), 260-268.
- Chakraborty, D., Bunch, D. S., Lee, J. H., & Tal, G. (2019). Demand drivers for charging infrastructurecharging behavior of plug-in electric vehicle commuters. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 76, 255-272.
- Charoniti, E., Rasouli, S., & Timmermans, H. J. (2017). Context-driven regret-based model of travel behavior under uncertainty: A latent class approach. Transportation Research Procedia, 24, 89-96.
- Daina, N. (2014). Modelling electric vehicle use and charging behavior. (Doctoral dissertation, Imperial College London).
- Daina, N., Sivakumar, A., & Polak, J. W. (2017). Electric vehicle charging choices: Modelling and implications for smart charging services. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 81, 36-56.
- Darke, P. R., & Chung, C. M. (2005). Effects of pricing and promotion on consumer perceptions: it depends on how you frame it. Journal of Retailing, 81(1), 35-47.
- Diamond, W. D. & Sanyal, A. (1990). The effect of framing on the choice of supermarket coupons. NA-Advances in Consumer Research Volume 17: Eds. Goldberg, M.E., Gorn, G., & Pollay, R.W. Provo, UT: Association for Consumer Research, 488-493.
- Dimitropoulos, A., Rietveld, P., & Van Ommeren, J. N. (2013). Consumer valuation of changes in driving range: A meta-analysis. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 55, 27-45.

- Dong, J., & Lin, Z. (2012). Within-day recharge of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles: energy impact of public charging infrastructure. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 17(5), 405-412.
- Franke, T., & Krems, J. F. (2013). Understanding charging behaviour of electric vehicle users. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 21, 75-89.
- Foot, D. K., & Stoffman, D. (1998). Boom, bust & echo 2000: Profiting from the demographic shift in the new millennium. Macfarlane Walter & Ross.
- Ge, Y., & MacKenzie, D. (2017). Dynamic Discrete Choice Modeling of the Charging Choices of Plugin Hybrid Electric Vehicle Drivers (No. 17-06510).
- Ge, Y., MacKenzie, D., & Keith, D. R. (2018). Gas anxiety and the charging choices of plug-in hybrid electric vehicle drivers. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 64, 111-121.
- Greene, W., Hensher, D. (2003). A latent class model for discrete choice analysis: Contrasts with mixed logit. Transportation Research Part B 37, 681–698.
- Greene, D. L., Kontou, E., Borlaug, B., Brooker, A., & Muratori, M. (2020). Public charging infrastructure for plug-in electric vehicles: What is it worth?. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 78, 102182.
- Geweke, J., Keane, M., Runkle, D. (1994). Alternative computational approaches to inference in the multinomial probit model. The Review of Economics and Statistics 76, 609–632.
- Glerum, A., Stankovikj, L., Thémans, M., & Bierlaire, M. (2014). Forecasting the demand for electric vehicles: accounting for attitudes and perceptions. Transportation Science, 48(4), 483-499.
- Hackbarth, A., & Madlener, R. (2013, August). Stated Preferences And Willingness-to-pay For Alternative Fuel Vehicles And Attribute Improvements: The Case Of Germany. In Energy Economics of Phasing out Carbon and Uranium, 13th IAEE European Conference, August 18-21, 2013. International Association for Energy Economics.
- Helveston, J. P., Liu, Y., Feit, E. M., Fuchs, E., Klampfl, E., & Michalek, J. J. (2015). Will subsidies drive electric vehicle adoption? Measuring consumer preferences in the US and China. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 73, 96-112.
- Hensher, D. A. (1994). Stated preference analysis of travel choices: the state of practice. Transportation, 21(2), 107-133.
- Hensher, D. A., Rose, J. M., & Greene, W. H. (2005). Applied choice analysis: a primer. Cambridge university press.
- Hess, S., Fowler, M., Adler, T., & Bahreinian, A. (2012). A joint model for vehicle type and fuel type choice: evidence from a cross-nested logit study. Transportation, 39(3), 593-625.
- Heyman, J., & Ariely, D. (2004). Effort for payment: A tale of two markets. Psychological science, 15(11), 787-793.
- Hidrue, M. K., Parsons, G. R., Kempton, W., & Gardner, M. P. (2011). Willingness to pay for electric vehicles and their attributes. Resource and energy economics, 33(3), 686-705.
- Hoen, A., & Koetse, M. J. (2014). A choice experiment on alternative fuel vehicle preferences of private car owners in the Netherlands. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 61, 199-215.
- Hurtubia, R., Nguyen, M. H., Glerum, A., & Bierlaire, M. (2014). Integrating psychometric indicators in latent class choice models. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 64, 135-146.
- Islam, M., & Mannering, F. (2020). A temporal analysis of driver-injury severities in crashes involving aggressive and non-aggressive driving. Analytic Methods in Accident Research, 100128.

- Jensen, A. F., Cherchi, E., & Mabit, S. L. (2013). On the stability of preferences and attitudes before and after experiencing an electric vehicle. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 25, 24-32.
- Kelly, J. C., MacDonald, J. S., & Keoleian, G. A. (2012). Time-dependent plug-in hybrid electric vehicle charging based on national driving patterns and demographics. Applied Energy, 94, 395-405.
- Kroesen, M. (2014). Modeling the behavioral determinants of travel behavior: An application of latent transition analysis. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 65, 56-67.
- Langbroek, J. H., Franklin, J. P., & Susilo, Y. O. (2016). The effect of policy incentives on electric vehicle adoption. Energy Policy, 94, 94-103.
- Latinopoulos, C., Sivakumar, A., & Polak, J. W. (2017). Response of electric vehicle drivers to dynamic pricing of parking and charging services: Risky choice in early reservations. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 80, 175-189
- Liao, F., Molin, E., & van Wee, B. (2017). Consumer preferences for electric vehicles: a literature review. Transport Reviews, 37(3), 252-275.
- Lohse-Busch, H., Duoba, M., Rask, E., & Meyer, M. (2012). Advanced powertrain research facility AVTA Nissan Leaf testing and analysis. Argonne National Laboratory.
- Lohse-Busch, H., Duoba, M., Rask, E., Stutenberg, K., Gowri, V., Slezak, L., & Anderson, D. (2013). Ambient temperature (20 F, 72 F and 95 F) impact on fuel and energy consumption for several conventional vehicles, hybrid and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles and battery electric vehicle (No. 2013-01-1462). SAE Technical Paper.
- Lyon, A. (2014). Why are normal distributions normal?. The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science, 65(3), 621-649.
- Mabit, S. L., & Fosgerau, M. (2011). Demand for alternative-fuel vehicles when registration taxes are high. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 16(3), 225-231.
- Maness, M., & Cirillo, C. (2012). Measuring future vehicle preferences: Stated preference survey approach with dynamic attributes and multiyear time frame. Transportation research record, 2285(1), 100-109.
- Maness, M., & Lin, Z. (2019). Free Charging: Exploratory Study of Its Impact on Electric Vehicle Sales and Energy. Transportation Research Record, 0361198119844966.
- Massiani, J. (2014). Stated preference surveys for electric and alternative fuel vehicles: are we doing the right thing? Transportation Letters, 6(3), 152-160.
- Mau, P., Eyzaguirre, J., Jaccard, M., Collins-Dodd, C., & Tiedemann, K. (2008). The 'neighbor effect': Simulating dynamics in consumer preferences for new vehicle technologies. Ecological Economics, 68(1-2), 504-516.
- McFadden, D. (1981). Econometric models of probabilistic choice. Structural analysis of discrete data with econometric applications, 198272.
- McFadden, D., Ruud, P. (1994). Estimation by simulation. Review of Economics and Statistics 76, 591–608.
- McMahon, Jeff. (2018). Electric Vehicles Cost Less Than Half As Much To Drive. Forbes. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/jeffmcmahon/2018/01/14/electric-vehicles-cost-less-than-half-as-</u> <u>much-to-drive/#4c2581463f97</u>.
- Menon, N., Barbour, N., Zhang, Y., Pinjari, A. R., & Mannering, F. (2019). Shared autonomous vehicles and their potential impacts on household vehicle ownership: An exploratory empirical assessment. International Journal of Sustainable Transportation, 13(2), 111-122.
- Molin, E., van Stralen, W., & van Wee, B. (2012). Car drivers' preferences for electric cars (No. 12-1572).

- Morgan, A., & Mannering, F. L. (2011). The effects of road-surface conditions, age, and gender on driver-injury severities. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 43(5), 1852-1863.
- Musti, S., & Kockelman, K. M. (2011). Evolution of the household vehicle fleet: Anticipating fleet composition, PHEV adoption and GHG emissions in Austin, Texas. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 45(8), 707-720.
- Nicholas, M., & Tal, G. (2015). Charging for charging at work: increasing the availability of charging through pricing (No. 15-6025).
- Nicholas, M., Hall, D., & Lutsey, N. (2019). Quantifying the electric vehicle charging infrastructure gap across U.S. markets. International Council on Clean Transportation. White paper.
- Nicolau, J. L., & Sellers, R. (2012). The free breakfast effect: an experimental approach to the zero price model in tourism. Journal of Travel Research, 51(3), 243-249.
- Nie, Y., Wang, E., Guo, Q., & Shen, J. (2018). Examining shanghai consumer preferences for electric vehicles and their attributes. Sustainability, 10(6), 2036.
- Pannone, G., B. Betz, M. Reale, and J. Thomas. (2017). <u>Decomposing Fuel Economy and Greenhouse</u> <u>Gas Regulatory Standards in the Energy Conversion Efficiency and Tractive Energy Domain</u>. SAE Int. J. Fuels Lubr. 10(1):202-216, 2017, <u>https://doi.org/10.4271/2017-01-0897</u>.
- Pan, L., Yao, E., & MacKenzie, D. (2019). Modeling EV charging choice considering risk attitudes and attribute non-attendance. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 102, 60-72.
- Rasouli, S., & Timmermans, H. J. P. (2013). The effect of social adoption on the intention to purchase electric cars: A stated choice approach. In Proceedings 92nd Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, January 13-17, Washington DC, USA (On-line: 18 pp).
- Rhodes, K., Kok, D., Sohoni, P., Perry, E., Kraska, M., & Wallace, M. (2017). Estimation of the Effects of Auxiliary Electrical Loads on Hybrid Electric Vehicle Fuel Economy (No. 2017-01-1155). SAE Technical Paper.
- Shampanier, K., Mazar, N., & Ariely, D. (2007). Zero as a special price: The true value of free products. Marketing science, 26(6), 742-757.
- Sheela, P. V., & Mannering, F. (2019). The effect of information on changing opinions toward autonomous vehicle adoption: An exploratory analysis, International Journal of Sustainable Transportation, 14 (6), 475-487.
- Sierzchula, W., Bakker, S., Maat, K., & Van Wee, B. (2014). The influence of financial incentives and other socio-economic factors on electric vehicle adoption. Energy Policy, 68, 183-194.
- Stern, S. (1997). Simulation-based estimation. Journal of Economic Literature 35, 2006–2039.
- Sun, C., He, H., & Sun, F. (2015). The role of velocity forecasting in adaptive-ECMS for hybrid electric vehicles. Energy Procedia, 75, 1907-1912.
- Tanaka, M., Ida, T., Murakami, K., & Friedman, L. (2014). Consumers' willingness to pay for alternative fuel vehicles: A comparative discrete choice analysis between the US and Japan. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 70, 194-209.
- Train, K. E. (2009). Discrete choice methods with simulation. Cambridge university press.
- Thomas, J. (2014). Drive cycle powertrain efficiencies and trends derived from EPA vehicle dynamometer results. SAE International Journal of Passenger Cars-Mechanical Systems, 7(2014-01-2562), 1374-1384.
- The EV Project, 2013. Office of Energy Efficiency and renewable energy https://www.energy.gov/eere/vehicles/avta-ev-project
- Washington, S., M. Karlaftis, F. Mannering, P. Anastasopoulos (2020) Statistical and econometric methods for transportation data analysis, Third Edition, Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL,

- Wen, Y., MacKenzie, D., & Keith, D. R. (2016). Modeling the charging choices of battery electric vehicle drivers by using stated preference data. Transportation Research Record, 2572(1), 47-55.
- Wolbertus, R., & Gerzon, B. (2018). Improving electric vehicle charging station efficiency through pricing. Journal of Advanced Transportation, 2018.
- Wolbertus, R., Kroesen, M., van den Hoed, R., & Chorus, C. (2018). Fully charged: An empirical study into the factors that influence connection times at EV-charging stations. Energy Policy, 123, 1-7.
- Xiong, Y., Mannering, F. (2013). The heterogeneous effects of guardian supervision on adolescent driver-injury severities: A finite-mixture random-parameters approach. Transportation Research Part B 49, 39 5 4.
- Yang, Y., Yao, E., Yang, Z., & Zhang, R. (2016). Modeling the charging and route choice behavior of BEV drivers. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 65, 190-204.
- Yu, H., & MacKenzie, D. (2016). Modeling charging choices of small-battery plug-in hybrid electric vehicle drivers by using instrumented vehicle data. Transportation Research Record, 2572(1), 56-65.
- Zoepf, S., MacKenzie, D., Keith, D., & Chernicoff, W. (2013). Charging Choices and Fuel Displacement in a Large-Scale Demonstration of Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicles. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, (2385), 1-10.